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A brief history of

County Hall



The Original County [Tall ol 1823

In 18249 the first Surrey County Conneil needed to find a home, The Sessions
Housc at Newington, near the Elephant and Castle, had been the home of the
Surrey Court of Quarter Sessions for almos # century but south London hiad
now passed into the new County of London and no longer formed part of
Surrey, 'The County Council considered a number of possible locations for its
headquarters, ‘I'hese included the option of remaining m London, the tocal
point of the railway system and the city in which many of the members
pursued their businesses and professions. Nevertheless the decision was Laken
to move into the administrative county and on 15 April 1890, after intense
lobbying and amid keen local interest, Kingston was selecied as the location
of County Hall, defeating Guildford, Wimbledon, Epsom and Redhill.

The site first selected was in §t James’ Road on the Kingston Hall estate, bul
running sand was discovered in the subsoil. County Hall was built on a two
acre site on the Woodbines estale which was purchased from Mr C F Jemumett
for £4.000, Tt faced Grove Road (later renamed Penthyn Road in honenr of the
first Chairman of the County Council} which was being improved by
Kingston Borough as the main thoroughfare between central Kingston amd
Surbiton station.

Charles Henry Howell, the architect of County IHall, had been appointed
Counly Surveyer of Surrey by the Court of Quarter Sesgions in 1500, He
designed Brookwood and Cane TIill lunatic asylums for the Counly as well a5
police stations and bridges. His official work was not full time and he was also
a partner in a private fivm of surveyors, Howell and Brooks, and a surveyor to
the Norwich Union Tnsurance Office. Higgs and Hill won the building
contract with a tender of £41,964.

Between 1861 and 1893 County ITall was in course of construction. On 3 June
1893 the ‘Surrey Comel’ was able to describe the ‘palatial structure in (irove
Roud’. This covered the nurth-castern part of lhe site and was the most
imposing building in late-ninetcenth century Kingston. The newspapers drew
attention to Lhe sculptures by Farmer and Brindley: Law and Libeity, Peace
and Plenty, Justice and Mercy over the windows of the first floor grand hall;



the arms of Guildford, Godalming, Reipate, Richmond and Kingston: the
arms of the Earl of Lovelace, Lord Lisutenant of Surrey, in the southern gable
of the fagade, together with the royval arms on the western aspect; and the Fouor
Seasnns on the tower buttresses,

On the first Door the building provided the Council Chamber, the Clerk of the
Council’s office, a commitice mom (committee room A), a courl, grand jury
room (now committee room C) and rooms for witnesses, jurors and barrisiers.
The court has now moved oul to a purpose built building alongside County
Hall and in recent years various altcralions have been made to the rooms (0
meet changing requirements and the implemeiation of Workstyle.

The ground {loor contained offices for the County Treasurer and Technical
Education Secretary and their stafl, the Chairman’s room and for the clerks. 1t
also held the store, the strong room for records, prisoners” cells and warders’
quariers .

On 13 November 1893 County Hall was open from 2 o'clock to 5 for viewing
by invitation. A bamd played and the guests viewed every parl of the building
from the cells and heating chamber to the splendowrs of the great hall. The
next day, following lunch as guests of the Mayor and Corporation of Kingston,
Surrey County Council met for the first time in Counmty Hall. One of (he
members, F § Merryweather of New Malden, wrote that ‘our Aldermen amd
our Councillors, elected by voices of many, many, thousands met in a palatial
building designed to meet the luxurions requirements of modern life, and in
the construction of which art and science have lent their latest trophics Lo
produce a Shire Hall worthy of its high significance as representative of the
preveress i the refinement of manners anel customs, and in the increase of the
population and material wealth of the Counly of Swrey’.

Later Extensions

County Hall was built with the needs of council and committee meetings,
courts and a minimal administrative staff in mind. As the County Council
acquired new duties and powers, stafling levels increased. By 1914 the
County Council was oceupying five privale houses in the vicinity ol Cranty



2ull and an office hired from Kingston Corporation. A scheme prepared in
1914 by thie architect Henry Hare for exlending County Hall southwards was
2 victin of the outbreak of war, By 1927 there were 39 stall in County [all
and 135 in converted houses in and around Penxhyn Road.

Vincent arms was commissioned o design an extension to County IIall. He
creaied a new entrance Dlock connected Lo the south of the existing building
with a short south wing extending westwards. This extension, intended for 200
staff, was opened by the Duke of Gloucester in 1930, By 1934 another
extension was required. This was built and opened in 1934 by extending the
1930 wing westwards and adding a west wing to if. The building of the
‘Ashcombe Block’ completed the quadrangle.

In July 1944 a flying bomb dumolished the Asheoombe Block, War damage was
repaired butween 1943 and 1950, although shrapnel marks can still be seen in
the stenework, The Ashcombe block was rebuilt in 1953 and this block
extended to meet the west wing in 1961, In 1963 a new northern quadrangle
began (o be formed when (he west wing was exlended north of the Asheombe
block, facing across to the 1893 building, This was completed in 1982 by the
erection of the computer bluck. Although successive extensions had been
designed cver simpler, the computer block was the [irst of the guadrangle
buildings to be designed in a modern style.

The Counly Hall complex theretore now comprises two guadrangles wilh -
buildings dating between 1893 and 1982. In addition, there is a small detached
block to the sonth, built in 1961 as the staff canteen and extended in 1972 to
provide stall reereational facilities and offices.
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